IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,2874

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHEN M. KISSINGER Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0979295 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Downs' motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court summarily denied Mr. Downs' claims without an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence, including a resentencing, under consideration. Mr. Downs was charged originally by an indictment dated August 4, 1977, with one count of first degree murder (R. 1). However, an amended indictment was dated August 11, 1977, with one count of first degree murder and one count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder (R. 3-4). He pled not guilty.

Mr. Downs' jury trial began on December 12, 1977. On December 14, 1977, the jury rendered a verdict of guilty on both counts (R. 837). On December 20, 1977, the jury recommended a death sentence (R. 87). On January 27, 1977 the trial court <u>ore</u> <u>tenus</u> imposed a sentence of death on the count of first degree murder and a sentence of thirty (30) years on the count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder.¹ No findings of fact were entered.

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Downs' convictions and sentences on direct appeal. <u>State v. Downs</u>, 386 So. 2d 788 (Fla.). On June 21, 1982, Mr. Downs filed a motion to vacate, to set aside or correct convictions and sentences, and to order a new trial. In addition, on April 11, 1983, Mr. Downs filed a second supplemental motion to vacate, to set aside, or to correct convictions and sentences and order a new trial.

¹As noted in the judgment and sentence for the conspiracy conviction, the conspiracy conviction was to run concurrent with the first degree murder conviction (R. 264).

On October 12-13, 1982, and January 11-12, 1983, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing. On August 12, 1983, the circuit court denied Mr. Downs' motions to vacate (PC-R. 1915-21). The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court's denial of Mr. Downs' motions to vacate. <u>Downs v. Dugger</u>, 453 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 1984). Mr. Downs petitioned for habeas corpus relief. The Florida Supreme Court denied Mr. Downs' petition for writ of habeas corpus. <u>Downs v. Dugger</u>, 476 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1985).

On August 18, 1987, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant on Mr. Downs. Mr. Downs execution was scheduled for September 17, 1987. Mr. Downs filed a petition for extraordinary relief, for a writ of habeas corpus and request for stay of execution dated September 8, 1987. The Florida Supreme Court granted Mr. Downs' writ, stayed the governor's warrant, vacated Mr. Downs' sentence, and remanded Mr. Downs' case for a new sentencing before a jury in light of <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987); <u>Downs v. Dugger</u>, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987).

Mr. Downs new sentencing proceeding began on January 30, 1989. On February 3, 1989, Mr. Downs' jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) for the first degree murder conviction (R2. 1151). On February 17, 1989, the resentencing court <u>ore tenus</u> imposed a sentence of death on the count of first degree murder (R2. 1205-06). A sentencing order was entered on February 17, 1987 (R2. 312-13).

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Downs' resentencing to death on appeal. <u>Downs v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 101 (Oct. 7, 1991).

On November 30, 1992, Mr. Downs filed a motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence with special request for leave to amend. Thereafter, Mr. Downs amended this motion, initially on October 7, 1993, and subsequently on September 6, 1994 (PC-R.2 001-094). On March 3, 1997, the circuit court denied the motion to vacate (PC-R.2 175-222). A notice of appeal was timely filed on April 15, 1997.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Downs is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on all claims raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Downs pled specific, detailed claims for relief which are not conclusively refuted by this record.

2. Mr. Downs has been denied access to the files and records in the possession of certain state agencies which pertain to his case. Such materials have been withheld in violation of Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the Eighth Amendment, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

3. Mr. Downs has been wrongfully denied access to his own trial file. Without access to this file, counsel cannot provide effective assistance of counsel.

4. Mr. Downs was deprived his due process rights because the state withheld exculpatory evidence. As a result, defense counsel's representation was rendered ineffective and thus prevented a full adversarial testing.

5. Mr. Downs' death sentence was tainted by unconstitutionally vague and overbroad instructions to the jury and by improper application of the statutory aggravators of "cold, calculated and premeditated", "prior violent felony", and "pecuniary gain" contrary to the holdings in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u> and <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, and in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

6. Mr. Downs was denied a reliable sentencing when his jury was improperly instructed that one single act supported two separate aggravating factors in violation of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u> and <u>Stringer v. Black</u>, and in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

7. Mr. Downs was denied his due process rights because the mental health expert who evaluated him for his resentencing failed to conduct professionally competent and appropriate evaluations.

8. At the guilt/innocence phase of his trial, and at pretrial, Mr. Downs was denied effective assistance of counsel. Counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare a defense, and to challenge the state's case. Counsel was also rendered ineffective by the actions of the state and the trial court.

9. Newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr. Downs' conviction and death sentence are unreliable. Mr. Downs is entitled to a new trial and resentencing.

10. At the resentencing, Mr. Downs was denied effective assistance of counsel. Trial counsel was also rendered ineffective by the actions of the state and the trial court which prevented him from adequately investigating and preparing mitigating evidence. Further, counsel failed to adequately challenge the state's case either through ineffectiveness or court interference. As a result, counsel's performance was deficient and Mr. Downs' death sentence is unreliable.

11. The judge and the Florida Supreme Court failed to consider mitigating factors which are clearly set out in the record in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

12. The penalty phase jury instructions were incorrect under Florida law because they unconstitutionally shifted the burden to Mr. Downs to prove that death was inappropriate. The trial court used this presumption of death to sentence Mr. Downs to die. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object or argue this issue. The resulting prejudice to Mr. Downs is manifest.

13. The trial court erroneously failed to conduct an adequate and thorough <u>Faretta</u> hearing to ensure that Mr. Downs was competent to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel. Even if Mr. Downs were competent to stand trial, he was still not competent to waive his right to counsel.

14. Mr. Downs' trial court proceedings were fraught with procedural and substantive errors. Such errors, when viewed as a whole, deprived Mr. Downs of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

ARGUMENT I

ACCESS TO THE FILES AND RECORDS PERTAINING TO MR. DOWNS' CASE IN THE POSSESSION OF CERTAIN STATE AGENCIES HAVE BEEN WITHHELD IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLA. STAT., THE DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT, AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Mr. Downs An Evidentiary Hearing On His Public Records Claim.

The trial court refused to grant Mr. Downs an evidentiary hearing on the public records claim presented in his Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgement and Sentence (PC-R.2 175-222). Mr. Downs asserted in that claim that certain state agencies had still failed to disclose public records to which he was entitled, in violation of the mandate of this Court, Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. Mr. Downs identified both the public agencies which had withheld public records and the nature of the records withheld.

This Court has repeatedly found that capital post-conviction defendants are entitled to public records disclosure. <u>Ventura v.</u> <u>State</u>, 673 So.2d 479 (Fla. 1996); <u>Walton v. Dugger</u>, 634 So.2d 1059 (Fla.1993); <u>State v. Kokal</u>, 562 So.2d 324 (Fla.1990); <u>Provenzano v. Dugger</u>, 561 So.2d 541 (Fla.1990). Where a defendant's prior request for disclosure of public records has been denied, such a request may properly be made as part of a motion for post-conviction relief. <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 1992). An evidentiary hearing is required. <u>Walton</u>. Furthermore, this Court has determined that a defendant should be allowed to amend a previously filed rule 3.850 motion after requested public records are finally furnished. <u>Ventura</u>; <u>Muehleman v. Dugger</u>, 623 So. 2d 480 (Fla.1993).

Here, the circuit court's error in summarily denying Mr. Downs' public records claim is particularly egregious. The court denied Mr. Downs such an evidentiary hearing because, "[t]he court finds the evidence uncontroverted that all records of JSO have been provided defense (sic). Mere suspicion that there is more does not warrant an evidentiary hearing for discovery on this 3.850 proceeding" (August 4, 1994 Order on Defendant's Motion to Compel at p. 1) (hereinafter August 4, 1994 Order).

In addition to being the product of a fundamentally unfair proceeding, <u>see</u>, <u>Johnson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the initial finding is both clearly erroneous and against the manifest weight of the evidence presented to the Court. Mr. Hicks, the custodian of records for the Jacksonville Sheriff's Department, stated unequivocally <u>that</u>

he had no knowledge of whether the Jacksonville Sheriff's Department had provided Mr. Downs with all materials he had requested pursuant to Chapter 119 (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 60). His role was to forward the materials provided to him by other departments within the Jacksonville Sheriff's Department (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 59). Mr. Hicks had no knowledge whatsoever as to what was contained within the records of those departments.

In contrast, Mr. Downs pointed out a number of specific items which had not been provided as well as circumstantial evidence, i.e. the very paucity of material which had been provided, that any further public records had been wrongfully withheld.²The Court denied Mr. Downs an evidentiary hearing regarding whether files presently being withheld by the Duval County State Attorney's Office were subject to disclosure pursuant to Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes as mandated by <u>Walton v. Dugger</u>, 634 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1993). Such a determination clearly could not have been made from the record before the Court.

Here, counsel for the State admitted that she could not state whether requested materials had ever been incorporated into produced documents, or even under what circumstances such

²In any event, the Florida Supreme Court has not conditioned the requirement that a capital defendant be afforded an evidentiary Chapter 119 hearing upon the defendant describing what materials have been withheld. Indeed, such a condition would be patently improper as it would require a defendant to describe materials which, because of the very fact that they are being concealed, the defendant would have no way of describing.

documents were created (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 94-5). Without an evidentiary hearing (where persons with personal knowledge would be required to testify regarding the purpose of such materials, whether such materials were later incorporated into final documents, and similar matters) it was simply impossible for the Court to have determined whether these records were exempt from Chapter 119 disclosure. The Court's ruling is thus clearly contrary to both the holding and the reasoning of the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>Walton</u>.

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in death row post-conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. "Because the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing . . . our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows on its face that [the defendant] is entitled to no relief." <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988). <u>See also</u> <u>LeDuc v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1982); <u>See also Harrich v.</u> <u>State</u>, 484 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 1986); <u>See also Mills v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1990); <u>See also O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984).

Some fact-based post-conviction claims by their nature can only be considered after an evidentiary hearing. <u>Heiney v.</u> <u>State</u>, 558 So. 2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. When a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such

an evidentiary hearing (as it should be in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." <u>Holland v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 1250, 1252-53 (Fla. 1987). "The movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion or files and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." <u>State v. Crews</u>, 477 So. 2d 984, 984-985 (Fla. 1985). "Accepting the allegations. . . at face value, <u>as we must for purposes of this appeal</u>, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing." <u>Lightbourne</u> <u>v. Duqger</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989).

B. The Trial Court's Reliance On Statements Submitted By One Party In Lieu Of An Evidentiary Hearing Violated Mr. Downs' Rights To Procedural And Substantive Due Process.

The Court denied Mr. Downs the opportunity to present evidence regarding the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office's failure to comply with Chapter 119. The Court, however, allowed the Jacksonville County Sheriff's Office to present evidence on the same matter (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 53-8). For example, Mr. Hicks identified a letter sent by his office to CCR on November 19, 1992, attesting that the documents being provided are a true and correct copy (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 53-4). The Court then specifically relied upon that evidence in denying Mr. Downs the evidentiary Chapter 119 hearing (August 4, 1994 Order at p. 1).

This Court specifically addressed this very issue in <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. Singletary</u>, 647 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1994). There this Court observed:

While Johnson's motion was <u>purportedly</u> denied as a matter of law, the trial judge permitted the State to introduce evidence from a rap sheet showing that Pruitt was much shorter and lighter than the description given by Summitt. <u>Under these circumstances, it is</u> <u>difficult to see why Johnson should have been</u> precluded from also putting on evidence.

Johnson, 647 So.2d at 111, footnote 3.

At the July 18, 1994 hearing, the State was allowed to present evidence in this matter to dispute factual allegations made by Mr. Downs (July 18, 1994 Hearing at p. 53-9). It was error for the trial court to refuse to allow post-conviction counsel to present evidence supporting Mr. Downs' allegations, or even challenge the credibility of the State's witness.

<u>Teffeteller v. Dugger</u>, 676 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1996). At the urging of the State, the court below ignored over ten years of decisions from this Court. As in <u>Hoffman</u>, this Court should remand this matter with specific instructions that it has no choice but to conduct an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Downs' public records claim and, if that hearing results in the production of records which give rise to a claim, or claims, cognizable in post-conviction proceedings, that Mr. Downs be allowed to amend his Rule 3.850 motion to include the same.

ARGUMENT II

MR. DOWNS WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS, BECAUSE THE STATE WITHHELD EVIDENCE WHICH WAS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY IN NATURE AND/OR PRESENTED MISLEADING EVIDENCE. SUCH OMISSIONS RENDERED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION INEFFECTIVE AND PREVENTED A FULL ADVERSARIAL TESTING.

A. The Evidence Concerning Harold Haimowitz's Connection To Forrest Jerry Harris Was Material, Exculpatory Evidence.

The facts and circumstances surrounding Mr. Downs' conviction and sentence of death demonstrate that the State withheld, and continues to withhold, material exculpatory evidence.

Shortly before his death, Forrest Jerry Harris entered into a plea agreement with federal authorities regarding charges that he had engaged in certain illegal banking transactions during his tenure as a vice-president of the American National Bank. Such charges were the result of an almost four year investigation by the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Florida and the Federal Bureau of Investigation into illegal transactions at the American National Bank.

At the time of his death, Mr. Harris was cooperating in this investigation. Mr. Harris revealed to federal authorities that a number of other persons at, or associated with, American National Bank, including, but not limited to, Harold Haimowitz, were also involved in violations of federal banking law.

A handwritten memorandum heretofore withheld by the State reveals that, in the more than four months which elapsed between the time of Mr. Harris' disappearance and the time Mr. Johnson came forward with his story that Mr. Downs had killed Mr. Harris, the Duval County Sheriff's Office and/or the Duval County State Attorney's Office had focused their investigation on the connection between Mr. Harris disappearance and his cooperation with federal authorities.

During the course of their investigation, the Duval County Sheriff's Office and/or the Duval County State Attorney's Office obtained information from federal authorities regarding the latter's investigation of illegal activities at the American National Bank and Mr. Harris' cooperation in that investigation.

At the time the State prosecuted Mr. Downs, the Duval County Sheriff's Office and/or the Duval County State Attorney's Office knew that, at the time he was murdered, Mr. Harris had agreed to implicate Harold Haimowitz and/or other prominent officers, employees, or associates of the American National Bank, in violations of federal law. Even after Mr. Downs was convicted, the State has continued to investigate the connection between activities at American National Bank and Mr. Harris' murder, yet none of that information had been provided to Mr. Downs.

The State argued at trial, post-conviction, and resentencing, that Mr. Downs was deserving of death while Mr. Johnson was deserving of complete immunity because Mr. Johnson had told the truth when he testified that Mr. Garelick had

ordered Mr. Harris' murder to collect insurance proceeds and that Mr. Downs was the actual "trigger man". Mr. Downs' theory at trial was that Mr. Johnson's story was not true.

Mr. Downs proffered testimony which he contended would show that other people, including Harold Haimowitz, had reasons to seek Mr. Harris' death. Finding the proffered evidence so weak as to lack a nexus to Mr. Harris' murder and the possibility that it would unnecessarily impugn Mr. Haimowitz and/ or his wife, the Court refused to allow this testimony, which went to alleged infidelities between Mr. Harris and Mr. Haimowitz' wife, to go before the jury.

Notwithstanding the fact that it knew of admissible evidence tending to show a connection between illegal activities at the American National Bank and Mr. Harris' death and the fact that the State's belief that such evidence was of sufficient strength to merit investigation even after Mr. Downs' conviction, the State failed to reveal such evidence to either Mr. Downs, his trial attorney, his initial post-conviction attorney, or his resentencing attorney. The State continues to withhold this information from collateral counsel.

B. Defense Counsel's Representation Was Rendered Ineffective

Prejudice is clear. From the time he was arrested through the time of his trial, Mr. Downs' attempted to tell authorities, then the jury, the true facts and circumstances surrounding the death of Forrest Jerry Harris. Mr. Downs expressed his desire to

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