FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 12 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ERNEST CHARLES DOWNS,

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 90,510

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0471852

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 414-4580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

relitigate a claim by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel.

See Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Lopez v. Singletary, supra;

Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, supra; Swafford, supra; Medina, supra.

The trial court correctly denied Downs' motion as to this claim.

ISSUE III

DOWNS' CLAIM REGARDING THE CCP INSTRUCTION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The trial court's ruling on this claim, found at pp.16-17 of Downs' initial brief, which was ground four (4) in his motion for post-conviction relief, was as follows:

In ground four, the defendant claims that this Court erred in giving the jury instruction on the cold, calculated and premeditated [CCP] sentencing aggravator. This claim is procedurally barred in that it could and should have been raised in the direct defendant's appeal following Jones v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly resentencing. (Fla. December 26, 1996); 16 Cherry, Chandler, supra; Swafford, supra; Jennings v. State, 583 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1991); Correl v. Further, the Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990). Court's defendant did object to this calculated and premeditated jury instruction and the instruction was addressed in his direct appeal of his resentencing hearing. Downs V, supra. defendant is procedurally barred from relitigating this issue by raising a different argument as to that issue in a subsequent proceeding. Arboleda, supra; Medina, supra. Finally, this Court finds that the facts brought out at the resentencing hearing established that the victim's murder was "...committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification," no matter how those terms defined. Section 921.141(5)(I), Statutes. Larzelere v. State, 676 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1996); Wuornos v. State, 676 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1996); Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1996).

In his motion and at the hearing on August 2, 1996, the defendant attempted to circumvent the procedural bar by arguing that resentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the

 $^{^{16}}$ Jones v. State, 690 so.2d 568 (Fla. 1996).

instruction, even under the existing case law, so as to preserve the claim for appellate review. First, resentencing counsel did object to this Court's cold, calculated and premeditated jury instruction. (Resentencing Record Transcripts, pages 1032-1037, 1142). Second, the defendant is prohibited from using an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in an attempt to circumvent a procedural bar. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Lopez v. Singletary, supra; Torres-Arboleda, supra; Swafford, supra; Medina, supra. (II/179-80)

Downs' challenge to CCP, on the direct appeal of his resentencing, was addressed in footnote 6 of *Downs V*, 572 So.2d at 900 (Fla. 1990):

FN6. In a claim related to the sentencing order, Downs argues that the trial court erred by applying the [CCP] aggravating circumstance in violation of the constitutional prohibition against ex post Once before this Court found no ex facto laws. post facto violation on this same question. v. State, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2258, 72 L.Ed.2d 862 Downs invites us to revisit that issue (1982).here in light of subsequent interpretations of the law. See, e.g., Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987). Downs also argues that the same error violated article X, section 9 of the Florida Constitution. However, we find no need to consider these claims under the facts in this record. The trial court's sentencing order combined the [CCP] aggravating circumstance with the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance. See supra at 898 n.3. Thus, even if we were to hold invalid the [CCP] aggravating circumstance, the error would have made no difference because did not contest the pecuniary aggravating circumstance.

Clearly, as FN6 of *Downs V* demonstrates, Downs third claim concerning the CCP instruction is procedurally barred. His "vaqueness" challenge is raised for the first time in this appeal,

and is, therefore, procedurally barred. Swafford v. Dugger, supra; Correll v. Dugger, supra. In addition, his only issue with regard to CCP at his resentencing was whether the trial court erred in applying this factor retrospectively to him, thereby rendering it an ex post facto violation. His reliance on Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994), actually undermines his position: "Claims that the instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator is unconstitutionally vague are procedurally barred unless a specific objection is made at trial and pursued on appeal.

James v. State, 615 So.2d 688, 669 n.3 (Fla. 1993)." See also, Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992). Downs never raised the vagueness challenge at his resentencing that he does now for the first time on appeal.

Downs' resentencing counsel, Mr. Arias, as well as his appellate counsel, can not be faulted for not predicting "evolutionary refinements" in criminal law. See Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989); See also, Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1993). Jackson issued in 1994, Downs was resentenced in 1988, and the initial brief in Downs' appeal from resentencing was filed in 1989. Further, claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel are not cognizable in a post-conviction motion. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990);

Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985).17

However, even if Downs' claim here was not procedurally barred, which the State does not concede, it would not have resulted in prejudice for two reasons. First, the murder was CCP under any definition as the trial court found:

...that the facts brought out at the resentencing hearing established that the victim's murder was "...committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification," no matter how those terms are defined. Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes. Larzelere v. State, 676 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1996); Wuornos v. State, 676 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1996); Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1996). (II/179)

Further, this Court found in *Downs V*: "[T]here is substantial competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusion that Downs was the triggerman in a cold-blooded contract murder." *Id.* at 901. Second, the trial court *merged* CCP with pecuniary gain, and Downs did not challenge that aggravator. *Id.* at 900, n.6.

Given the aforementioned precedent, and the fact that this cold contract murder was CCP under any definition, the trial court

See also, Suarez v. Dugger, 527 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1988); Card v. State, 497 So.2d 1169, 1177 (Fla. 1986) (The failure of appellate counsel to brief an issue which is without merit is not a deficient performance which falls measurably outside the range of professionally acceptable performance.); Herring v. Dugger, 528 So.2d 1176, 1177 (Fla. 1988) (Appellate counsel is not deficient for failing to raise an issue where controlling case law is adverse to his position.); Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So.2d 1165, 1167 (Fla. 1989) (Where a point has little merit, appellate counsel cannot be faulted for not raising it on appeal.)

was correct in summarily denying Downs' motion as to this claim. Further, as this Court recognized in FN6 of Downs V, at 900, because the trial court's sentencing order combined CCP with the pecuniary gain aggravator, "even if we were to hold invalid the [CCP] aggravating circumstance, the error would have made no difference because Downs did not contest the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance."

ISSUE IV

DOWNS' CLAIM REGARDING THE INSTRUCTION ON THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Downs' fourth claim, found at pp.17-18 of his brief, was his fifth claim in his motion below, upon which the trial court ruled:

In ground five, the defendant claims that this Court erred when it instructed the jury on the previous conviction of a violent felony sentencing aggravator. This claim is procedurally barred in that it could and should have been raised (if it had been preserved) in the defendant's direct appeal following his resentencing hearing. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Swafford, supra; Correll, supra; Adams v. State, 543 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1989). Further, this Court finds that the evidence brought out at the resentencing hearing of the defendant's previous robbery conviction would have established the prior felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence to some person sentencing aggravator, no matter how those terms are defined. Larzelere, supra; State v. Salmon, 636 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1994).

In his motion and at the hearing on August 2, 1996, the defendant attempted to circumvent the procedural bar by arguing that resentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction, even under the existing case law, so as to preserve the claim for appellate review. The defendant is prohibited from using an ineffective assistance of counsel claim to circumvent a procedural bar. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Lopez v. Singletary, supra; Torres-Arboldea, supra; Swafford, supra, Medina, supra. (II/180-81)

Downs makes the same arguments in this claim as he did in the previous claim regarding the CCP instruction, and the State's argument in the previous claim is equally applicable to this claim.

As the trial court found, this claim is procedurally barred

because it was not raised at the resentencing and was not raised on direct appeal. (Trial Court's citations) Claims raised for the first time on collateral attack are procedurally barred as a matter of law. (Trial Court's citations) On the merits, even if this claim were properly preserved, which it is not, the trial court found "that the evidence brought out at the resentencing hearing of the defendant's previous robbery conviction would have established" the prior violent felony aggravator "no matter how those terms are defined." (II/180)

As regards the ineffective assistance of resentencing counsel component of this claim, Downs can't circumvent the procedural bar by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (Trial Court's citations). Further, Mr. Arias can not be faulted for failing to raise a nonmeritorious objection. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claims are not cognizable in a post-conviction motion. Swafford v. Dugger, supra; Middleton v. State, supra. Even if the claim were not procedurally barred, there would be no prejudice because the factor existed no matter how it was defined. The trial court was correct in summarily denying Downs' motion as to this claim.

ISSUE V

DOWNS' CLAIM REGARDING THE INSTRUCTION ON THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AND WITHOUT MERIT.

This claim, argued at pp.19-20 of his brief, was Downs' ground six in his motion, upon which the trial court ruled:

In ground six, the defendant claims that this Court erred in instructing the jury on the pecuniary gain sentencing aggravator. This claim is procedurally barred in that it could and should have been raised (if it had been preserved) in the following defendant's direct appeal resentencing hearing. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Swafford, supra; Adams, supra. Further, this Court finds that the evidence brought out at the resentencing hearing that the defendant was to be paid \$5,000.00 for killing the victim was sufficient to establish the pecuniary sentencing aggravator, no matter how those terms are defined. Larzelere, supra; State v. Salmon, supra.

In his motion and at the hearing on August 2, 1996, the defendant attempted to circumvent the procedural bar by arguing that resentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction, even under the existing case law, so as to preserve the claim for appellate review. The defendant is prohibited from using an ineffective assistance of counsel claim to circumvent a procedural bar. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Lopez v. Singletary, supra; Torres-Arboleda, supra; Swafford, supra; Medina, supra. (II/180-81)

Downs makes the same arguments in this claim as he did in his previous two claims regarding the CCP and prior violent felony instructions, and the State's argument as to those claims is equally applicable to this claim.

As the trial court found, this claim is procedurally barred

because it was not raised at the resentencing and was not raised on direct appeal. (Trial Court's citations) Claims raised for the first time on collateral attack are procedurally barred as a matter of law. (Trial Court's citations) On the merits, even if this claim were properly preserved, which it is not, the trial court found "the evidence brought out at the resentencing hearing that the defendant was to be paid \$5,000.00 for killing the victim was sufficient to establish the pecuniary gain sentencing aggravator, no matter how those terms are defined." (II/181) (Trial Court's citations)

As regards the ineffective assistance of resentencing counsel component of this claim, Downs can't circumvent the procedural bar by alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (Trial Court's citations). Further, Mr. Arias can not be faulted for failing to raise a nonmeritorious objection. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claims are not cognizable in a post-conviction motion. Swafford v. Dugger, supra; Middleton v. State, supra. Even if the claim were not procedurally barred, there would be no prejudice because the factor existed no matter how it was defined. The trial court was correct in summarily denying Downs' motion as to this claim.

 $^{^{18}}$ As previously delineated in the State's argument as to the CCP instruction, this Court noted Downs' failure to challenge the pecuniary aggravator in FN6 of *Downs V*, at 900.

ISSUE VI

DOWNS' CLAIM THAT HIS RESENTENCING JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED THAT ONE SINGLE ACT SUPPORTED TWO SEPARATE AGGRAVATING FACTORS IS "PATENTLY FALSE," PROCEDURALLY BARRED, AND DEVOID OF MERIT.

At pp.19-22 of his brief, Downs argues instructions on CCP and pecuniary gain, constituted impermissible "doubling" because "both factors were supported by the fact that the murder was a contract murder." The trial court found:

In ground seven, the defendant claims that this Court improperly instructed the jury that it could find the existence of the pecuniary gain sentencing aggravator and the [CCP] sentencing aggravator based on a single fact which would support both aggravators. This claim is procedurally barred in that it could and should have been raised (if it had been preserved) in the defendant's direct appeal following his resentencing hearing. Cherry, supra; Chandler, supra; Swafford, supra; Jennings, supra; Correll, supra; Adams, supra. Further, this claim is patently false, in that this Court never jury that it could instructed the find circumstances based on one aggravating (Resentencing Record, pages 288-293; Resentencing Record Transcripts, pages 1134-1140) The jury had before it the fact that the defendant was to be paid \$5,000.00 for killing the victim, to establish the pecuniary gain aggravator, and it had the facts of how the defendant himself planned and carried out the murder of the victim, to establish the [CCP] aggravator. Larzelere, supra. The jury did not have to rely, and this Court did not rely, on one factual circumstance to establish the two aggravators. Moreover, this Court combined the two aggravators, which this Court did not have to do, so that there is no possibility that one fact was used to support two aggravators. 19

¹⁹ See FN6 of Downs V.

In his motion and at the hearing on August 2, 1996, the defendant attempted to circumvent the procedural bar by arguing that resentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction, even under the existing case law, so as to preserve the claim for appellate review. First, counsel was not ineffective in failing to object, because this Court did **not** [emphasis the Court's] improperly instruct the jury as the defendant asserts in his motion. Second, the defendant is prohibited from using an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in an attempt to circumvent a procedural bar. Cherry, Chandler, supra; Lopez v. Singletary, supra; Torres-Arboleda, supra; Swafford, supra; Medina, (II/181-82)supra.

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